# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF LECTRONICALLY Filed Mai 18 2021 04:11 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

DAVID J. MITCHELL; LAS	)	Case No.:	80693
VEGAS LAND PARTNERS, LLC;	)		
MEYER PROPERTY, LTD.; ZOE	)		
PROPERTY, LLC; LEAH	)		
PROPERTY, LLC; WINK ONE,	)		
LLC; AQUARIUS OWNER, LLC;	)		
LVLP HOLDINGS, LLC;	)		
LIBERMAN HOLDINGS, LLC; and	)		
LIVE WORKS TIC SUCCESSOR,	)		
LLC,	)		
	)		
Appellants,	)		
VS.	)		
	)		
RUSSELL L. NYPE; REVENUE	)		
PLUS, LLC; and SHELLEY D.	)		
KROHN,	)		
	)		
Respondents.	)		
	)		

## **MITCHELL APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF**

## **Attorneys for Appellants:**<sup>1</sup>

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an Appeal from a January 17, 2020 Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment ("FFCL" and/or "Judgment"),<sup>2</sup> arising from a lawsuit in the *Eighth Judicial District Court*, before the Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, by Plaintiffs/Respondents, RUSSELL L. NYPE ("Nype") and REVENUE PLUS, LLC (collectively "Plaintiffs" and/or "Nype Respondents"), against Defendants/Appellants, DAVID J. MITCHELL ("Mitchell"); MEYER PROPERTY, LTD. ("Meyer"); ZOE PROPERTY, LLC ("Zoe"); LEAH PROPERTY, LLC ("Leah"); WINK ONE, LLC ("Wink"); AQUARIUS OWNER, LLC ("A-Owner"); LVLP HOLDINGS, LLC ("LVLP-H"); and LIVE WORKS TIC SUCCESSOR, LLC ("Live Work TIC")(collectively "Appellants" and/or "Mitchell Defendants")<sup>3</sup> ("Action"). [AA 1221-38; 307-340; 1052-82].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Original Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment were entered on January 16, 2020. [AA 1203-20]. The District Court corrected a typographical error in the Judgment and incorporated pre-judgment interest in the Judgment in an Order entered on May 13, 2020. [AA 1511-17].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Mitchell Defendants also sometimes includes Defendants, MITCHELL HOLDINGS, LLC ("Mitchell-H"); LIVE WORK, LLC ("Live Work"); LIVE WORK MANAGER, LLC ("Live Work-M"); and FC/LIVE WORK VEGAS, LLC ("FC/LV").

Additionally, Plaintiffs sued Defendants, BARNET LIBERMAN

("Liberman"), LIBERMAN HOLDINGS, LLC ("Liberman-H"); 305 LAS

VEGAS, LLC ("305 Vegas"); CASINO COOLIDGE, LLC ("Coolidge")

(collectively "Liberman Defendants").<sup>4</sup> Plaintiffs also sued Defendant,

LAS VEGAS LAND PARTNERS, LLC ("LVLP"),<sup>5</sup>

On February 13, 2020, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to Alter/Amend the Judgment, pursuant to *NRCP* 59(e) and 60(a). [AA 1290-1324] and on February 14, 2020, Mitchell Defendants filed a Motion to Alter/Amend Judgment, pursuant to *NRCP* 52 and 59(e) [AA 1371-91] ("Alter/Amend Motions").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> On February 25, 2020, Liberman and Coolidge separately appealed the Judgment and were represented by separate counsel in the District Court as well as in their Appeal. [AA 1440-42]. On February 26, 2021, this Court dismissed the appeal filed by Liberman and Coolidge. Liberman Defendants also filed Motions to Alter/Amend with the District Court. [SAA 73-513; AA 1325-52]. The Orders denying those motions were entered on March 30, 2020, with Notice of Entry filed on March 30, 2020. [AA 1483-88; 1492-1500].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> On August 19, 2019, **LVLP** filed for Chapter 7 Bankruptcy. Respondent, SHELLEY D. KROHN ("**Trustee**"), is the bankruptcy trustee. [AA 937-39]. The Judgment takes no action against LVLP or the Trustee. [AA 1226, *n*. 1].

The Orders resolving the Alter/Amend Motions were entered on March 30, 2020 [Mitchell Defendants] and May 13, 2020 [Plaintiffs], with Notice of Entry filed on March 30, 2020 and May 13, 2020. [AA 1489-94; 1511-17]. Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal on February 26, 2020. [AA 1443-60].

#### **ROUTING STATEMENT**

Appellants respectfully submit that this Appeal should be heard by the *Nevada Supreme Court* as this Action originated in the Business Court of the *Eighth Judicial District Court*. *See NRAP* 17(a)(9).

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

Appellants respectfully submit the following Statement of Issues in this Appeal:

1. Whether the District Court erred in finding in favor of Plaintiffs and awarding damages for civil conspiracy, notwithstanding that the cause of action was barred by the statute of limitations.

\\\ \\\

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Pursuant to *NRAP* 4(a)(6), the Notice of Appeal was deemed filed on the date of notice of entry of the order resolving the last Alter/Amend Motion, i.e. Plaintiffs' on May 13, 2020. [AA 1511-17].

- 2. Whether the District Court erred in finding in favor of Plaintiffs and awarding damages for fraudulent conveyance.<sup>7</sup>
- 3. Whether the District Court erred in finding in favor of Plaintiffs and awarding damages for alter ego.
- 4. Whether the District Court erred in awarding Plaintiffs special damages in the form of attorney's fees, including in the award itself and the amount of such award, and whether Plaintiffs' failure to properly allege, either factually and/or legally, any entitlement to an award of attorney's fees as special damages rendered such claim for special damages improper.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This Appeal arises from an Action filed by Plaintiffs<sup>8</sup> on July 26,

2016 in the Eighth Judicial District Court. [AA 1-19; 307-40].

\\\\ \\\

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See infra re: Coolidge transaction. Additionally, the District Court's award of pre-judgment interest and attorney's fees on Plaintiffs' claims for civil conspiracy and fraudulent conveyance should properly be vacated and reversed based upon the issues presented herein relating to the two claims. Additionally, an incorrect calculation of pre-judgment interest was based upon an incorrect judgment amount, i.e. \$19,983,450.40, as opposed to the total amount awarded of \$19,641,515.90. [AA 1237; 1322; 1324; 1466; 1501-10; 1511-17].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> On November 18, 2019, the Trustee filed a Compliant in Intervention. [AA 994-1036; 1046-51; 1052-82].

After a six-day bench trial, the District Court found in favor of Plaintiffs on their causes of action for fraudulent conveyance, civil conspiracy and alter ego. Plaintiffs were awarded a total of \$19,641,515.90 in damages, as well as a further judgment on their alter ego claim. [AA 1237-38]. The District Court awarded pre-judgment interest/costs. [AA 1516; 1518-24]. The District Court subsequently ordered additional attorney's fees. [AA 1501-10]

#### 1. <u>Underlying Action</u>

The instant Action relates to an underlying lawsuit brought by LVLP, Live Work and Zoe Properties, LLC against Plaintiffs on November 2, 2007 in the *Eighth Judicial District Court*, bearing Case No.: A551073 ("Underlying Action"). [AA 2748-52]. Plaintiffs filed a counter-claim in the Underlying Action. [AA 2753-66].

On April 10, 2015, a judgment in the amount of \$2,608,797.50 was entered in the Underlying Action in favor of Plaintiffs and against LVLP only. [AA 2792-94].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> With regard to the award of pre-judgment interest, Plaintiffs calculations were improperly based upon an incorrect total Judgment amount of \$19,983,450.40. [AA 1322; 1324; 1466]. The District Court, in fact, awarded a total Judgment amount of \$19,641,515.90. [AA 1237].

An amended Underlying Judgment, which included costs and interest, was entered on November 1, 2018 following an appeal of the Underlying Action to the *Nevada Supreme Court*. [AA 750-67; 2795-97]. ("Underlying Judgment"). The Underlying Judgment does not reflect any award of attorney's fees to Plaintiffs, nor did Plaintiffs seek such award in the Underlying Action.

#### B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS/DISPOSITION

On July 26, 2016, Plaintiffs sued all Defendants, wherein Plaintiffs' causes of action were: (1) constructive trust; (2) fraudulent conveyance; (3) civil conspiracy; (4) declaratory relief; and (5) alter ego. [AA 1-19].<sup>10</sup>

While the District Court denied a Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendants, on August 21, 2017, nevertheless, the District Court found:

[T]hat the complaint as currently stated does not sufficiently give numerous defendants actual notice as to the specifics of what is being alleged regarding each such defendant, and therefore an amendment would be appropriate and will be required. [AA 303].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> All defendants were initially represented by the same counsel. [AA 49-59; 60-88]. On May 22, 2017, the District Court struck Plaintiffs' jury demand, wherein it found in part that "Plaintiff's third claim for relief for civil conspiracy/conspiracy to defraud is based on and seeks to facilitate post-judgment remedies and the fraudulent conveyance claim (sic); therefore it is equitable not legal in nature. [AA 49-59; 166].

Plaintiffs filed their First Amended Complaint on August 21, 2017. [AA 60-88; 298-306; 307-340] ("Amended Complaint"). On September 5, 2017, Mitchell Defendants filed their Answer to the Amended Complaint. [AA 341-51]. On September 8, 2017, Liberman and 305 Vegas filed their Answer to the Amended Complaint. [AA 352-61].

On October 24, 2017, a Joint Case Conference Report ("JCCR") was filed in the instant Action.<sup>11</sup> [AA 362-470]. Plaintiffs' *NRCP* 16.1 Disclosures requested attorney's fees and costs "incurred in this case." [AA 383].

Mitchell Defendants filed a motion to compel ("Mitchell Discovery Motion") against Plaintiffs on April 19, 2018, seeking complete responses to Mitchell Defendants' interrogatories and requests for production of documents. [AA 490-725].

|||

During the course of the instant Action, all counsel agreed to continuances relating to pre-trial, trial and discovery deadlines. [AA 471-78; 888-94]. For example, on February 15, 2018, all counsel stipulated to continue the discovery and trial dates in the instant Action, wherein it was stated, "[c]ounsel have been diligently pursuing and answering discovery on behalf of their respective clients." [AA 474].

In the Mitchell Discovery Motion, it was stated, "[d]espite receiving over six months to provide complete responses, Plaintiffs still have failed to provide any factual basis for the claims set forth in their Complaint." [AA 491]. On June 18, 2019, the District Court granted the Mitchell Discovery Motion. [AA 862-68]. 13

Significantly, after entering into a transaction which were the subject of the prior case, as between LVLP, Live Work, LLC, and Wink One, LLC, with Forest City Enterprises, and various of its affiliated and subsidiary entities. Those transactions which led to the litigation in the Prior Case, literally resulted in monies in excess of \$10 million flowing to LVLP, a very substantial portion of which was immediately distributed to Mitchell and Liberman, in total derogation of the rights of known existing creditors, such as Plaintiffs herein. [AA 621] (emphasis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Nype's responses included: "Mitchell indicated in the Prior Case that Plaintiffs would never collect because defendants had set everything up so as to make LVLP Judgment proof." [AA 609]. Nype further stated:

<sup>13</sup> In May 2019, Mitchell Defendants' current counsel was retained in the instant Action. [AA 908]. On May 30, 2019, the District Court granted a motion to compel, filed prior to Mitchell Defendants' retention of its current counsel, that was filed by Plaintiffs. [AA 903-14]. Additionally, on September 24, 2019, following an evidentiary hearing, the District Court entered an Order on Plaintiffs' Motion for *NRCP* 37(b) sanctions, wherein the District Court sanctioned Mitchell Defendants \$160,086.46 relating to compelling discovery ("Sanctions Order"). [AA 940-52]. The record reflects that Mitchell Defendants fully paid these discovery sanctions prior to the trial in this Action. [AA 1180-82].

On November 30, 2018, Liberman Holdings was dismissed from the instant Action. [AA 895-902]. On August 23, 2019, 305 Vegas filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was denied by the District Court. [AA 915-36]. On November 21, 2019, Mitchell Defendants filed a Motion to Dismiss/Motion for Summary Judgment ("MSJ"), which was denied by the District Court. [AA 1095-1123].

On November 18, 2019, the Trustee filed the Complaint in Intervention, following the granting of a Motion to Intervene. [AA 994-1036; 1052-82; 1083-88]. On December 19, 2019, Mitchell Defendants filed their Answer to the Complaint in Intervention. [AA 1156-60]. On December 23, 2019, Liberman and Coolidge filed their Answer to the Complaint in Intervention. [AA 1171-79].

## 1. Bench Trial

A bench trial was held between December 30-31, 2019 and January 2-3 and 6-7, 2020. [AA 1533-2421]. At the close of trial, 305 Vegas was granted a directed verdict, "as its failure to collect rent due from LVLP does not cause any damage to the Plaintiff." [AA 2294; 1226; 1435-39].

On January 16, 2020, the District Court entered its original FFCL.

[AA 1203-20]. On January 17, 2020, the District Court entered an amended FFCL, i.e. the Judgment. [AA 1221-38]. 14

#### 2. The Judgment

The Judgment is in favor of Plaintiffs on their claims for fraudulent conveyance, civil conspiracy and alter ego.<sup>15</sup> [AA 1221-1238].

#### Fraudulent Conveyance Claim: \$4,835,111.37

The District Court's award for fraudulent conveyance is comprised of two components, i.e. \$341,934.47 relating to the proceeds "of the Leah transaction with Casino Coolidge directly to Liberman and Mitchell, rather than to Leah's parent LVLP" and "special damages in the form of attorney's fees, costs and expert expenses related to the transfers in the total amount of \$4,493,176.90." [AA 1235] (emphasis).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> The amendment incorporated footnote 10 in reference to the District Court's prior evaluation of the factors enumerated in *Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank*, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). [AA 1235; 1180-82; 940-52]. However, *see infra*, regarding special damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The Judgment reflects that Plaintiffs were unsuccessful on their other two claims, i.e. constructive trust and declaratory relief. [AA 1237]. However, Plaintiffs had abandoned the constructive trust claim <u>prior</u> to trial. [AA 1193].

With regard to the fraudulent conveyance award, the Judgment reflects that "[t]hese damages are duplicated in the civil conspiracy judgment." [AA 1237].

## Civil Conspiracy Claim: \$19,641,515.90

The District Court's award for civil conspiracy is comprised of two components, i.e. \$15,148,339.00 and "Nype is entitled to recover his attorney's fees as special damages as he was successful on his claim for civil conspiracy in the total amount of \$4,493,176.90." [AA 1236-37]. [AB 1236-37].

Finally, with regard to Plaintiffs' alter ego claim, the District Court awarded Plaintiffs' the "amount of the Underlying Judgment." [AA 1238].

<sup>\\\</sup> \\\ \\\ \\\

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The District Court states, "Mitchell, Liberman and the Related Entities' actions and inactions have caused Nype damages in the <u>total amount</u> of \$19,641,515.90" and the damages awarded for the fraudulent conveyance claim "are duplicated in the civil conspiracy judgment." [AA 1237-38].

## **Special Damages Award**

As reflected in the Judgment, the District Court awarded "special damages" in the amount of \$4,493,176.90 in the form of attorney's fees relating to the claims for fraudulent conveyance and civil conspiracy. [AA 1235-38]. However, the amount of \$4,493,176.90 awarded by the District Court for "attorney's fees" did <u>not</u> actually represent attorney's fees and/or costs allegedly incurred by Plaintiffs.

In fact, this <u>exact</u> amount, i.e. **\$4,493,176.90**, was from a calculation submitted by Plaintiffs at trial in the instant Action reflecting the total amount, as of September 2, 2019, <u>of the Underlying Judgment inclusive of costs and interest</u>. [AA 2351-52; 3230 (Trial Exhibit 70060)].<sup>17</sup>

///

\\\

\\\

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In this particular instance, the District Court's factual and legal determinations regarding the <u>amount</u> of attorney's fees, costs and expert expenses awarded as "special damages" were not based upon an analysis of Plaintiffs' <u>actually requested</u> attorney's fees, costs and expert expenses incurred in the instant Action. *See infra* argument section regarding the District Court's award of attorney's fees as special damages.

The Judgment does not reflect any consideration, including an analysis of the *Brunzell* factors, by the District Court of the amounts actually requested by Plaintiffs for attorney's fees as special damages. [AA 1235; 1501-10; 2348].<sup>18</sup>

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT TO APPEAL

Since the mid-1980's, Mitchell has been a real estate developer, primarily involved in real estate projects in New York City, as well as developing properties in Long Island, New York, Florida and New Jersey. [AA 2058]. Mitchell subsequently met Liberman in the late 1990's, who himself was also involved in real estate development. [AA 1890; 2059].

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> While the District Court notes in footnote 10 to the Judgment that it was incorporating its evaluation of the Brunzell factors from the Sanctions Order, this ignores the fact that the District Court was not even considering the actual amount of attorney's fees requested by Plaintiffs at trial in the instant Action. The District Court incorrectly believed that the requested attorney's fees were \$4,493,176.90. [AA 1235]. At trial, Plaintiffs requested \$1,274,337.90 subject to additional attorney's fees to be submitted for the time period of December 2019 to January 2020. [AA 2348; 1237-89; Trial Exhibits 70036-45; 70053-56; 70062-65; 70067; 70075-79].

In 2004, after Mitchell purchased an initial piece of property in Las Vegas, Nevada, Mitchell and Liberman began assembling additional properties in the downtown Las Vegas area with an eye towards future development. [AA 1891-92; 1994-95; 2059-63; 2153].

LVLP, which was created on August 17, 2004 and co-owned by Mitchell and Liberman, acquired the different Las Vegas land parcels through subsidiary entities. [SAA 28; AA 2062-63; 2087; 2461; *see also* Trial Exhibits 3, 9, 10, 17-18, 32, 34-35, 38, 40, 43-45, 52 and 90075].

Over the course of several years, Mitchell and Liberman assembled approximately 60 properties in the downtown Las Vegas area. [AA 2061-62]. These purchases were acquired through equity/cash and debt, all of which amounted to between 120-130 million dollars. [AA 2066].

Liberman testified that the main bank they utilized, i.e. Signature Bank, which was located in New York, would not loan out money in Las Vegas, and therefore, they took out personal loans and used it for development. [AA 1902-03].

///

Plaintiffs' forensic accountant, Mark Rich, C.P.A. ("**Rich**"), testified that business expenses were being paid by Mitchell and Liberman personally, including loan payments, bills and travel expenses. [AA 1609-10].<sup>19</sup>

The subsidiary entities were set up for several reasons, i.e. to prevent property sellers from learning that a single buyer was acquiring multiple adjacent parcels of land, as well as for management and financing requirements of imposed by various lenders.<sup>20</sup> [AA 1892-93; 1879].

///

///

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Liberman and Mitchell testified that the distributions taken later were to pay some of the obligations on the personal lines of credit from a number of banks that had enabled them to generate the funds necessary to assemble the properties. [AA 1964-65; 1973; 2152-53]. Later, a receiver requested that deposits be deposited into Heartland Bank instead of Signature Bank. [AA 2155; 2902].

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