IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DAVID J. MITCHELL; LAS VEGAS LAND PARTNERS, LLC; MEYER PROPERTY, LTD.; ZOE PROPERTY, LLC; LEAH PROPERTY, LLC; WINK ONE, LLC; AQUARIUS OWNER, LLC; LVLP HOLDINGS, LLC; LIVE WORKS TIC SUCCESSOR, LLC, Case No. 80693

Electronically Filed Oct 28 2021 09:28 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

VS.

RUSSELL L. NYPE; REVENUE PLUS, LLC, and SHELLEY D. KROHN,

Respondents.

APPEAL

from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable ELIZABETH GONZALEZ, District Judge
District Court Case No. A-16-740689-C

RESPONDENTS' ANSWERING BRIEF

I. ISSUES PRESENTED

Whether substantial evidence supports the District Court's civil-conspiracy findings and conclusions.

Whether substantial evidence supports the District Court's alter-ego findings and conclusions.

Whether substantial evidence supports the District Court's fraudulent-transfer findings and conclusions.

Whether substantial evidence supports the District Court's award of attorney's fees and costs as special damages.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises from a final judgment in favor of Respondents Russell L. Nype ("Mr. Nype"), Revenue Plus, LLC (collectively, the "Nype Parties"), issued in Case No. A-16-740689-B, by The Honorable *Elizabeth Gonzalez* (the "District Court" or the "Second¹ Action"). (7AA1221-38.) Judgment was awarded on January 17, 2020, through Amended Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment (the "Second Judgment"). *Id*.

1

¹ As explained on pages 2-5, below, there was a first action involving the Nype Parties that preceded the Second Action and resulted in a first judgment.

On February 26, 2020, judgment debtors the Mitchell Parties² appealed from the Second Judgment. Judgment debtors Barnet Liberman ("Liberman") and Casino Coolidge, LLC ("Casino Coolidge"), also appealed from the Second Judgment. Liberman and Casino Coolidge's appeal was, however, dismissed by this Court on February 26, 2021. (*See* February 26, 2021, Order at 1.)³ Judgment debtors LiveWork LLC ("Livework") and FC/LiveWork Vegas, LLC, *did not appeal from the Second Judgment*. (8AA1443-60.) In May 2020, the District Court entered orders granting pre-judgment interest on the Second Judgment and awarding the Nype Parties costs and additional attorney's fees (the "Additional Fees/Costs/Interest Orders"). (8AA1518-24; 8AA1501-10.) The Mitchell Parties did not file a notice of appeal (amended or otherwise) from the Additional Fees/Costs/Interest Orders.

///

///

///

///

² The term "Mitchell Parties" refers to Appellants David J. Mitchell ("Mitchell"), Las Vegas Land Partners, LLC ("LVLP"), Meyer Property, LTD ("Meyer Property"), Zoe Property, LLC ("Zoe"), Leah Property, LLC ("Leah Property"), Wink One, LLC ("Wink One"), Aquarius Owner, LLC ("Aquarius"), LVLP Holdings, LLC ("LVLP Holdings"), and LiveWorks TIC Successor, LLC.

³ In the same order, this Court also removed Liberman Holdings, LLC, as an appellant. (*See* February 26, 2021, Order at 1.)

III. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS AND BACKGROUND

A. The Nype Parties' First Judgment

This appeal is the latest ploy in Mitchell and Liberman's nearly *two-decade-long machination* to avoid paying the Nype Parties for the valuable services they performed on Mitchell and Liberman's behalf. (7AA1228-38; 16AA2748-52.)

In 2005, Mitchell and Liberman requested the Nype Parties' assistance with finding a development partner to assist them in developing certain real property located in Downtown Las Vegas. (3RA440; 7AA1228.) The Nype Parties successfully introduced Mitchell and Liberman to Forest City Enterprises ("Forest nationally-recognized City"), deep-pocketed, developer. (7AA1228-38; 12AA2168-69, 2230; 3RA442-46, 552.) With the Nype Parties' crucial assistance, Mitchell and Liberman (through their various entities) closed a transaction with Forest City. (7AA1228; 3RA442-46, 552.) Because of Mr. Nype's close, personal relationships with Forest City's key decision makers and his insider's knowledge of how Forest City operated, he was able to facilitate a transaction that Mitchell and Liberman had attempted to develop for years, without success. (3RA440-44, 452; 13AA2178, 2182.)

At the initial closing of the transaction in 2007, Forest City invested approximately 101 million dollars into the development project. (3RA446; 16AA2808-09; 29SAA1715-1807.) At least \$10,500,000 in cash went directly to

Mitchell and Liberman's entity, Livework. (7AA1228; 3RA446.) Mitchell and Liberman's entities also saved millions of dollars in interest payments on the project's existing loan financing. (3RA446.) Liberman and Mitchell were also able to extinguish more than \$19,484,000 in personal loan guarantees. *Id*.

Prior to closing the transaction with Forest City, a dispute arose between Mitchell, Liberman and the Nype Parties over the amount the Nype Parties were entitled to be paid related to the transaction with Forest City. (7AA1228; 13AA2181-86.)

Mitchell and Liberman were fully aware that the Nype Parties were expecting to receive at least two million dollars for their efforts. (7AA1228; 13AA1273, 2181-86.) Despite understanding the Nype Parties' expectations, Mitchell and Liberman only set aside \$430,000 for them. (7AA1228.) Shortly after setting aside that amount, in 2007, Mitchell and Liberman took personal distributions from LVLP Holdings in excess of \$13,000,000. (7AA1228; 16AA2805-06, 2808-10.) The Nype Parties subsequently learned that these distributions left insufficient capital available to pay either the Nype Parties or Mitchell and Liberman's share of the development costs required under their transaction with Forest City. (16AA2805-06, 2808-10; 24SAA589-659; 3RA470-76.)

Instead of paying the Nype Parties what they were owed, on November 2, 2007, Mitchell and Liberman⁴ sued the Nype Parties, in Eighth Judicial District Court Case No. A551073 (the "First Action"), seeking a declaration that the Nype Parties were not owed *a single penny for their services*. (07AA1229; 16AA2748-52.) The Nype Parties counterclaimed seeking compensation for services rendered. (16AA2753-66; 9AA1561.)

Litigation in the First Action lasted more than seven years and cost the Nype Parties *millions* of dollars. (16AA2748-52, 2792-94; 13AA2205-2010.) Unbeknownst to the Nype Parties at the time, Mitchell, Liberman, LVLP, LiveWork, and Zoe litigated the First Action in bad faith, and for improper purposes, driving up the costs and delaying the litigation. (See 16AA2883-4.) Ultimately, trial began in October of 2014 and concluded in January of 2015. (46RA8871-73) The Nype Parties were finally awarded judgment against LVLP in April of 2015—nearly *eight years* after they had earned, and were entitled to, their commission (the "First Judgment"). (3RA440-444, 452-53; 7RA1221-38.) The First Judgment awarded \$2,608,797.50, in principal, plus costs and pre- and postjudgment interest. (16AA2795-97.) As of the filing of this Answering Brief, approximately \$4,833,154.26 is due on the First Judgment, plus additional post-

⁴ Mitchell and Liberman sued the Nype Parties through three of their wholly owned and controlled entities, LVLP, LiveWork and Zoe.

judgment interest currently accruing at \$395.47 per day. (18AA3230 (updated to 10/28/21).)

LVLP, LiveWork and Zoe appealed to this Court in Case No. 68819, and this Court affirmed the First Judgment on November 14, 2017. *See Las Vegas Land Partners, LLC v. Nype*, 133 Nev. 1041, 408 P.3d 543 (2017). This Court denied rehearing of its order affirming the First Judgment on April 27, 2018. *Id*.

B. The Second Action

After obtaining the First Judgment, the Nype Parties engaged in significant attempts to collect on the First Judgment from LVLP. (7AA1229; 13AA2211-12.) The Nype Parties' efforts were almost entirely unsuccessful, however, collecting less than \$10,000.00. (13AA2210-11.) Post-judgment discovery began in August of 2015. (3RA465-76, 496.) Discovery continued to flow in, on a sporadic and intermittent basis, until November 2019, just prior to trial of the Second Action. (7AA1230; 3RA470-76, 496-98; 6AA992-93; 16AA2815.) This new and previously undisclosed discovery revealed,⁵ for the first time, that: (1) LVLP had no meaningful assets; and (2) Mitchell and Liberman had taken steps to (i) divert

_

⁵ Prior to August 2015, the Nype Parties had only received limited tax returns and very limited bank statements for LVLP. (3RA365-76, 496-99.) Those tax returns suggested, in their asset summaries, that LVLP had millions of dollars of assets. (16AA2805-08; 24SA660, 668, 674, 678, 682, 693, 697.) Detailed financial and accounting records (such as general ledgers, financial statements, etc.) were first obtained during the months following the start of post-First Judgment discovery (i.e., after September 2015). (3RA365-76, 496-99.)

and drain all valuable assets away from LVLP, and (ii) ensure that assets that would normally have flowed into LVLP's coffers never actually made their way to LVLP. (16AA2805-15; 7AA1229.) Indeed, between 2007 and 2016, Mitchell and Liberman diverted more than \$15,000,000 to themselves, despite being fully aware of the Nype Parties' claims, and later, the First Judgment. (16AA2805-08; 7AA1230.) These distributions caused or contributed to the insolvencies of Mitchell and Liberman's related entities or the inability of the entities to pay their debts as they became due. (16AA2805-08.)

Accordingly, on July 26, 2016, the Nype Parties filed the Second Action against Mitchell, Liberman, LVLP⁶, and related entities⁷, alleging claims for declaratory relief, fraudulent conveyance, civil conspiracy, constructive trust, and alter ego. (1AA1-19.) The Nype Parties further sought punitive damages and attorney's fees as special damages. (1AA12, 15-16, 18-19.)

__

⁶ LVLP filed Chapter 7 Bankruptcy on August 19, 2019, in bankruptcy case no. 19-1533-mkn. The Bankruptcy Court appointed Ms. Shelly D. Krohn ("Plaintiff Trustee") as Bankruptcy Trustee for LVLP. On November 18, 2019, Plaintiff Trustee intervened in the District Court on behalf of LVLP, as a Plaintiff-In-Intervention. (06AA1052-82.) <u>Plaintiff Trustee is a Respondent in this appeal and this Answering Brief is also filed on her behalf</u>.

⁷ These related defendants included: LVLP Holdings; Meyer Property; Zoe; Leah Property; Wink One; LiveWork; LiveWork Manager LLC ("LiveWork Manager"); Aquarius; LiveWorks TIC Successor, LLC; FC/LiveWork Vegas LLC; Mitchell Holdings, LLC ("Mitchell Holdings"); 305 Las Vegas, LLC ("305 Las Vegas"); and Casino Coolidge.

Mitchell and Liberman's bad-faith and unlawful litigation tactics continued throughout the Second Action. (7AA1230, 1233, 1236; 5AA903-14; 5AA940-52; 2RA328-35.) For years, they refused to produce material emails and crucial financial/accounting records, taking the false position that such materials did not exist. (Id; 7AA1230, 1233, 1236; 5AA903-14, 940-52; 16AA2815; 6AA992-93; 1RA129-36.) The District Court ultimately found that Mitchell had failed to "meaningfully participate in discovery until the eve of trial[.]" (7AA1230.) Mitchell's discovery misconduct was so pervasive and severe that the District Court sanctioned him \$160,086.46. (5AA940-52.) Mitchell's "failure to produce documents which should have been in his possession" led the District court to "conclude that if those documents had been produced[,] they would have been adverse to Mitchell." (7AA1230.) Perhaps most egregious, Mitchell worked with his New Jersey-based CPA, Sam Spitz ("Mr. Spitz"), to "fabricate and backdate[] evidence to facilitate the destruction and/or concealment of material financial evidence . . . that would have greatly assisted [the Nype Parties'] case." (7AA1236 (emphasis added); see also 14AA2318; 14AA2336-41; 47RA8987-9025.)8 Overcoming Mitchell and Liberman's discovery abuses required burdensome and

⁻

⁸ Prior to and during trial, Mitchell vehemently denied fabricating and backdating evidence. The District Court found Mitchell "not credible." (7AA1230.) After trial, he admitted that "[t]he conduct of Mitchell and his CPA was wrong." (07AA1377.) Importantly, the District Court's finding of *intentional spoliation* armed it to make *adverse inferences* that the withheld materials "would have been adverse to Mitchell." (7AA1230.)

expensive motion practice. (1RA144-55; 2RA238-23.) The Nype Parties were eventually able to obtain *some* of the long-sought-after discovery materials on the eve of trial, when *several hundred thousand pages* of previously non-disclosed materials were finally produced. (7AA1232; 3RA465-76; 16AA2815; 6AA992-93; 13AA2194, 2271; 5AA909; 14AA2318, 2387-88; 1RA194; 9AA1606.) The District Court concluded that "[b]ut for [the Nype Parties'] pretrial discovery, the fabrication of evidence would not have been uncovered." (7AA1236.)

A six-day bench trial was held in the Second Action, before The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, between December 30, 2019, and January 7, 2020. (7AA1225.) The Nype Parties' case-in-chief included *multiple* days of expert testimony from their forensic accountant, Mark Rich, CPA, CFF ("Mr. Rich"). (9AA1599-1696; 10AA1700-83; 11AA1789-890.) His testimony *went unrebutted by any defense expert.* (9AA1533-1697; 10AA1698-1785; 11AA1786-1987; 12AA1988-2163; 13AA2164-2303; 14AA2304-2421.)

During trial, Mr. Nype also testified at length to the enormous amount of financial and emotional harm that Mitchell and Liberman had caused him. Their actions had: (1) significantly impacted his marriage and materially contributed to his divorce; (2) forced him to sell his New York City residence and encumber other real-property interests; (3) cost him millions of dollars in lost business opportunities; (4) damaged his business reputation; (5) caused him more than a

decade of ongoing, severe mental anguish and suffering; (6) forced him to incur more than \$4.5 million in legal and expert fees; and (7) left him with an uncollectable First Judgment, presently worth \$4,833,154.26. (13AA2167, 2205-10; 14AA2346-48; 7AA2918-3033; 18AA3230 (updated to 10/28/21).)

C. The Second Judgment

The District Court "reviewed the evidence admitted during the trial[,]" "heard and carefully considered the testimony of the witnesses called to testify and weigh[ed] their credibility[.]" (7AA1226 (emphasis added).) On January 17, 2020, the District Court awarded the Nype Parties the Second Judgment, as follows: (1) in the amount of \$19,641,515.90, jointly and severally against Mitchell and Liberman on the cause of action for civil conspiracy (the "Civil-Conspiracy Judgment"); (2) in the amount of \$4,835,111.37, jointly and severally against Mitchell, Liberman and certain of their entities, on the cause of action for fraudulent conveyance (the "Fraudulent-Transfer Judgment"); and (3) imposing joint-and-several, alter-ego liability against Mitchell, Liberman and certain (but not all) of their entities, on the First Judgment and also the "the damages, attorney's

.

⁹ The District Court specifically found that "Mitchell was not credible." (7AA1230.)

fees and costs awarded in [the Second Judgment]" (the "Alter-Ego Judgment"). (7AA1237-38.) The Court declined to award punitive damages. *Id*.

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